IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF
REVENUE AND OFFICE OF
THE COMPTROLLER,

Appellants,

vs.

FIRST UNION NATIONAL BANK
OF FLORIDA, a national bank,
and FIRST UNION CORPORATION
OF AMERICA, a bank holding
company,

Appellees.

FILED
SID J. WHITE

MAR 20 1961

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By:
Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 70,186

On Appeal from the District Court of Appeal, First District,
State of Florida, Case No. BK-432

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS
FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE
AND OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH
ATTORNEY GENERAL

LINDA LETTERA
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Department of Legal Affairs
The Capitol-Tax Section
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Appellants, Florida Department of Revenue and Gerald A. Lewis, Comptroller of the State of Florida will be referred to collectively and interchangeably as the "Appellants" or the "State."

The Appellees, First Union National Bank of Florida, a national bank, and First Union Corporation of Florida, a bank holding company will be referred to collectively and interchangeably as the "Appellees" or the "Banks."¹

The trial court in this case was the Honorable Charles E. Miner, Jr., of the Second Judicial Circuit, in and for Leon County, Florida, which court will be referred to as the "trial court." The First District Court of Appeal of Florida will be referred to as the "District Court." The symbol (A) followed by a page number will refer to the separate Appendix of the Appellants' Initial Brief. The symbol (R) followed by a page number will refer to the Record on Appeal as established by the Clerk of the trial court.

¹ In the trial court Appellees were known as Atlantic National Bank of Florida and Atlantic Bancorporation, respectively. The Final Summary Judgment of the Circuit Court bears that caption (R 288-292; A 6-10). Pursuant to Notification and Suggestion of Change of Corporate Names and Order of the District Court, the style of the case was changed to reflect the new corporate names.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE OF THE FACTS

This case is before the Supreme Court on direct appeal from a decision of the District Court, which reversed the trial court, and declared invalid the corporate franchise tax imposed on banks and savings associations by Part VII, Chapter 220, Fla. Stat., as violative of the Federal Public Debt Statute, 31 U.S.C. §3124. In its decision the District Court held as follows:

We hold, therefore, that the tax imposed by Part VII, Chapter 220, Florida Statutes, is an income tax for purposes of Title 31, Section 3124, United States Code, and invalid to the extent it purports to include federal instrumentalities in its measure.

Accordingly, we reverse and remand to the trial court for further proceedings to determine the refund to which appellants are due.

Part VII, Chapter 220, Fla. Stat., sets forth Special Rules Relating to Taxation of Banks and Savings Associations and imposes a "franchise tax measured by net income" which is defined to include interest earned on United States government bonds and obligations in the franchise tax base for purposes of measuring the tax. By declaring the Florida tax violative of the Federal Public Debt Statute, 31 U.S.C. §3124, the District Court has effectively declared the tax unconstitutional under the Supremacy Clause, Art VI, cl. 2 of the United States Constitution.

From a pleading and procedural standpoint this has been an uncomplicated case. Suit was initiated in Circuit Court, Leon County on September 14, 1984 by Appellees' filing a Complaint for Declaratory Judgment, Refund of Taxes, and other Relief (R 1-13). After several initial amendments to the Complaint, Appellees filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment Based Upon Patent Invalidity of Tax (R 62-83). The State filed its Response in support of the validity of the taxing statute (R 84-102) accompanied by two affidavits regarding the nondiscriminatory aspects of the tax (R 103-105).

Final Summary Judgment was entered by the Circuit Court on December 16, 1985, upholding the validity of the tax (R 288-292; A 6-10). The trial court rejected the Banks' argument that the tax imposed by Part VII, Chapter 220, Fla. Stat., is a direct tax on income and particularly on income derived from U.S. obligations in violation of the Federal Public Debt Statute. Instead, the trial court found the tax to be a classic "franchise tax, i.e., an excise or privilege tax imposed on a corporation or artificial entity for the privilege of doing business in corporate or artificial capacity in the state." The trial court also found the tax to be "nondiscriminatory" as defined by the United States Supreme Court for purposes of the Federal Public

Debt Statute. In accordance with the above findings, the trial court ruled that the franchise tax on banks and savings institutions imposed by Part VII falls squarely within the purview of the exception to the Federal Public Debt Statute, 31 U.S.C. §3124: a nondiscriminatory franchise tax or another nonproperty tax instead of a franchise tax, imposed on a corporation. As such, the trial court held that the State may include in the franchise tax base, for purposes of measuring the tax, interest earned on federal, state, and local debt obligations. The Banks timely filed an appeal to the First District Court (R 293-294).

The District Court reversed the decision of the Circuit Court declaring the tax to be a direct income tax and thus violative of the Federal Public Debt Statute by including interest earned on U.S. obligations in the computation of the tax. The District Court remanded to the trial court for further proceedings to determine the amount of refund due the Banks (A 5).² The State timely filed a Notice of Appeal to the Supreme Court.

² The District Court in footnote 2 of its decision stated that the taxes were paid under protest. There is no support for this statement in the Record. Moreover, refunds for tax year 1985 are not yet at issue.

This appeal is of great public importance. The fiscal impact of the District Court's decision is very significant. The Appellees are the holders of a very large amount of stocks and obligations of the United States Government. Should the tax ultimately be found to be unconstitutional, Appellees would be entitled to a substantial refund of prior taxes paid. According to the State's calculations, the amount of refund demanded in the Complaint constitutes a little more than 99% of the Banks' original tax liability. Conversely, less than 1% of their original tax liability would remain for the tax years at issue if interest earned on federal obligations is removed from the base of this tax. Moreover, all banks and savings associations in Florida are similarly affected. Institutions wishing to preserve their right to refunds in the event the law is declared invalid have continued through the pendency of this lawsuit to file requests for refunds. In order to avoid each institution having to file its own separate appeal of the denial of the request for refund, the Florida Department of Revenue agreed to enter into stipulations with individual institutions filing such applications. Pursuant to the stipulation, the Department of Revenue would accept the application for refund and agree not to render a decision on it until this challenge to the taxing

statute is resolved. This allowed the institution to preserve its right to contest a denial of refund without having to immediately file its own appeal of the denial. ³

³ This paragraph constitutes largely of excerpts from the Suggestion that Judgment be Certified to Supreme Court and Certificate of Counsel filed by Appellees' attorneys in the District Court. Because of the expedited briefing schedule in a direct appeal, the Record in the District Court has not yet been prepared and reference to the Suggestion in the Record cannot be made. Therefore the Suggestion has been made a part of the Appendix to this Brief (A 27-31).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

There is an abundance of dispositive legal authority to support reversal of the District Court's decision declaring Florida's franchise tax on banks and savings associations invalid as violative of the Federal Public Debt Statute, 31 U.S.C. §3124. The United States Supreme Court has **twice** upheld state corporate taxes legally indistinguishable from the tax before this Court. Other state Supreme Courts have also upheld taxes strikingly similar to the Florida tax. There is even precedent from this Court recognizing the difference between a direct property tax and a nonproperty excise tax imposed on the exercise of certain privileges. The District Court, however, ignored these controlling and persuasive authorities and declared the tax violative of the federal statute.

The Federal Public Debt Statute is not a complete bar to state taxation of stocks and obligations of the United States Government. There is an express exception in this federal statute. Congress has specifically provided, in the exception clause, that states may include federal obligations, interest earned on federal obligations, or both, in the computation of a "nondiscriminatory franchise tax, or another nonproperty tax instead of a franchise tax, imposed on a corporation."

Florida has taken the cue from Congress and has imposed a tax which fits precisely within the purview of this exception.

Over a decade ago, the Florida Legislature took extraordinary care in fashioning the tax before this Court to fall within the purview of the exception set forth by Congress. The Legislature, in express findings and declarations of intent, recognized (1) that the privileges, rights and immunities conferred by law on banks doing business in Florida are very unique and valuable rights; (2) that banks are governed by special and unique federal rules; and (3) that it was faced with the dilemma of finding an equitable method which would effectively tax financial institutions to truly reflect their fiscal responsibilities to the State and to fellow citizens. The Legislature concluded that the most appropriate and equitable form of taxation would be a "nonproperty franchise tax as described in the Federal Public Debt Statute." It was with that in its collective mind that the Legislature structured the tax sub judice. The Legislature intended to impose and did impose a nonproperty franchise tax.

The tax before this Court is clearly a nonproperty tax (i.e. an excise or franchise tax) imposed on banks for the privilege of conducting business, deriving income, or existing within this

State in corporate or artificial capacity. The tax measures the value of that privilege by computing the tax based upon the net income of the bank. The fact that the tax is measured by net income does not, however, convert the tax into a direct tax on income. The use of a "net income" base as the "measure" of a franchise tax is a legitimate and common facet of a state corporate tax statute and clearly does not transform the tax into a direct imposition on the net income. It is a very reasonable and accurate method for measuring the value of the privilege being taxed.

The tax is also nondiscriminatory. By its express terms, Part VII mandates inclusion of all interest earned on federal, state, and local debt obligations in the tax base for computing the tax. Thus, there is parity of treatment for all debt obligations. The tax does not violate the Federal Public Debt Statute.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN REVERSING THE TRIAL COURT AND DECLARING THE CORPORATE FRANCHISE TAX IMPOSED ON BANKS AND SAVINGS ASSOCIATIONS BY PART VII, CHAPTER 220, FLA. STAT., INVALID AS VIOLATIVE OF THE FEDERAL PUBLIC DEBT STATUTE, 31 U.S.C. §3124.

A. The tax imposed on banks by Part VII, Ch. 220, Fla. Stat., is "a franchise tax or another nonproperty tax . . . imposed on a corporation" within the purview of the exception contained in the federal statute.

This appeal presents the question whether Florida's corporate franchise tax on banks and savings associations imposed by Part VII, Chapter 220, Fla. Stat., violates the Federal Public Debt Statute, 31 U.S.C. §3124, by including stocks and obligations of the United States Government in the tax base for purposes of measuring the tax liability. For the first time this Court is being asked to examine the provisions of Part VII to determine whether the Legislature imposed a property tax or a nonproperty tax. If the Court finds that the tax is a property tax (i.e., a direct tax on income) than Part VII is invalid as it violates the Federal Public Debt Statute. If the Court finds that the tax is a nonproperty tax (i.e., an excise or franchise tax imposed on corporations for the exercise of certain privileges) then Part VII falls within the purview of an exception to the Federal Public Debt Statute and is valid.

The Federal Public Debt Statute, 31 U.S.C. §3124 (formerly 31 U.S.C. §742) provides, in pertinent part, as follows:

Exemption from taxation

(a) Stocks and obligations of the United States Government are exempt from taxation by a State or political subdivision of a State. The exemption applies to each form of taxation that would require the obligation, the interest on the obligation, or both, to be considered in computing a tax, except--

(1) a nondiscriminatory franchise tax or another nonproperty tax instead of a franchise tax, imposed on a corporation,
and

(2) an estate or inheritance tax. (e.s.)

By this federal statute Congress has exempted stocks and obligations of the United States Government from state taxation. The exemption, however, is not without exception. Stocks and obligations of the United States Government (and interest earned therefrom) may be considered in computing "a nondiscriminatory franchise tax or another nonproperty tax instead of a franchise tax, imposed on a corporation." In short, to come within this exception and include the principal and interest income of federal debt obligations in the bases(s) for computing a tax, the state tax must be (1) a franchise tax or another nonproperty tax imposed on a corporation and (2) nondiscriminatory. The Florida

Legislature took extraordinary care to fashion such a tax. The tax imposed by Part VII, Chapter 220, Fla. Stat., is an excise or privilege tax, i.e., a nonproperty tax imposed on banks and savings associations for the privilege of doing business in a corporate or artificial capacity in the State. As such it falls precisely within the purview of the exception to the Federal Public Debt Statute as set forth by Congress and federal obligations and interest earned on those obligations may be included in the tax base for purposes of measuring the tax liability.

The trial court found the tax to be "a classic franchise tax, i.e., an excise or privilege tax imposed on a corporation or other artificial entity for the privilege of doing business in corporate or artificial capacity in the state." (A 7) The trial court's opinion cited decisions of the United States Supreme Court and at least five (5) other state Supreme Courts upholding the validity of taxes legally indistinguishable from the Florida tax at issue against similar challenges premised on the Federal Public Debt Statute. The District Court, however, ignored the expressed legislative intent regarding the tax and without comment on or distinction of the numerous authorities cited reversed the trial court striking down Florida's fifteen (15)

year old bank franchise tax. The District Court's decision must be reversed. It is wrong.

The State respectfully submits that there is an abundance of dispositive legal authority to support the validity of Florida's tax on banks. Moreover, there is an abundance of legal authority to support reversal of the District Court's decision. Very recently, the United States Supreme Court dismissed for want of a substantial federal question an appeal by a bank challenging New Jersey's similar corporate business tax on the same grounds, i.e., that it was a direct tax on income and therefore violated the Federal Public Debt Statute by including interest earned on federal obligations in the tax base.⁴ In Garfield Trust Co. v. Director, Div. of Taxation, 508 A.2d 1104 (N. J. 1986) appeal dismissed, ____ U.S. ____, 107 S.Ct. 390, ____ L.Ed.2d ____ (1986) the Court held that a corporate business tax computed by adding prescribed percentages of both a **net worth** tax base (which includes the face value of federal obligations) and an entire **net income** tax base (which includes, like the tax sub judice, interest earned on federal obligations) was not a direct tax upon

⁴ Dismissal by the United States Supreme Court of an appeal for want of a substantial federal question constitutes an adjudication on the merits of the case and concomitantly binding precedent for all courts. Hicks v. Miranda, 422 U.S. 332, 95 S.Ct. 2281, 45 L.Ed.2d 223 (1975); State v. Bales, 343 So.2d 9 (Fla. 1977).

a corporation's net worth or net income but rather was a franchise tax and therefore did not violate the Federal Public Debt Statute by including federal obligations or interest earned on the obligations in the respective tax bases.]

11/20/86

The tax in Garfield Trust is legally indistinguishable from the tax before this Court. Like Florida's tax, the **net income** base was defined to be the amount of taxable income reported for federal income tax purposes.⁵ Like Florida, in classic franchise or privilege tax terms, the tax was imposed annually "for the privilege of having or exercising its corporate franchise in this State, or for the privilege of doing business, employing or owning capital or property, or maintaining an office, in this State."

The Garfield Trust case presents very controlling and important precedent.⁶ It represents approval by the United

⁵ It is important to note that the tax is, like Florida's, measured by the **current** year's corporate income. For reasons unclear, the District Court found the fact that Florida's tax was not measured by the **preceding** year's corporate income fatal to the validity of the tax. The issue regarding current vs. preceding year's income will be more thoroughly discussed later in this Brief.

⁶ Two Notices of Supplemental Authority were filed by the Appellants in the District Court regarding this case. The first Notice was filed on September 11, 1986 when the New Jersey Supreme Court, in a comprehensive opinion reported at 508 A.2d 1104, affirmed the Tax Court and lower appellate court decisions

States Supreme Court of a state tax on corporations which includes in the computation not only the net income from federal obligations but also the face value of those obligations. It represents approval by the United States Supreme Court of a tax so strikingly similiar that the only fundamental difference between the New Jersey tax and the Florida tax is that Florida does not include the face value of federal obligations (net worth) in computation of the tax. Moreover, the issue before the Court was precisely the same issue before this Court: whether a particular corporate tax **measured by current net income** constitutes a direct tax on income or a nonproperty franchise tax for purposes of the Federal Public Debt Statute. If the tax is a direct tax on income (i.e., a property tax) then it violates the federal statute by including federal obligations in its measure. If the tax is a "franchise tax" or "another nonproperty tax" (i.e., an excise or privilege tax) then it falls within the

6 cont'd.

upholding the tax. The second Notice was filed on December 19, 1986, when the United States Supreme Court dismissed the appeal for want of a substantial federal question. The Notices were filed because the State had relied on Garfield Trust in the trial court, in the brief and at oral argument in the District Court. In spite of two (2) Notices, the District Court made no mention of Garfield Trust in its decision. The Garfield Trust case is included in the Appendix to this Brief (A 11-20).

purview of the exception to the federal statute and federal obligations (and interest earned on those obligations) may be included in the computation or measure of the tax. Secondly, the case is important because it reaffirmed the vitality of a line of cases which have recognized the difference between a direct tax on income and a franchise or excise tax imposed for a granted privilege such as operation in corporate form.⁷ For purposes of the Federal Public Debt Statute the difference is very important for it determines whether federal obligations and/or interest earned on those obligations may properly be included in computation of a particular state tax.

Another case of controlling precedent ignored by the District Court is Reuben L. Anderson-Cherne v. Com'r. of Taxation, 226 N.W.2d 611 (Minn. 1975) appeal dismissed 423 U.S. 886 (1975) wherein it was held that the annual excise tax imposed on corporations for certain privileges (such as existing as a corporation or transacting business in corporate form during any

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