IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,  
an agency of the State of Florida,  
and GERALD A. LEWIS, Comptroller  
of the State of Florida,

Appellants,

vs.

CASE NO. 70,186

FIRST UNION NATIONAL BANK OF  
FLORIDA, a national bank, and  
FIRST UNION CORPORATION OF  
FLORIDA, a bank holding  
company,

(Appeal from the First  
District Court of Appeal  
Case No. BK-432)

Appellees.

---

APR 1970  
FILED  
By: *jlh*

---

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEES

---

JOSEPH C. JACOBS

THOMAS M. ERVIN, JR.

AND

STUART E. GOLDBERG  
of the law firm of  
Ervin, Varn, Jacobs,  
Odom & Kitchen  
Post Office Drawer 1170  
Tallahassee, FL 32302  
(904)224-9135

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

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The tax imposed by Part VII, Chapter 220, Florida Statutes, is clearly an income tax rather than a franchise tax. As such, the Florida tax is invalid under 31 U.S.C. §3124 to the extent it includes and taxes interest on United States stocks and obligations. The district court properly so held.

The Florida tax is laid directly upon, and calculated as a percentage of, adjusted federal income of the bank, including federal interest earnings, as they are earned. §220.63, Fla. Stat. In 1959 31 U.S.C. §3124 was amended, with one of the specific purposes of the amendment being to make clear that an income tax (whether described as "on" or "measured by" income) was thereby prohibited. American Bank & Trust Company v. Dallas County, 463 U.S. 855, 103 S.Ct. 3369, 77 L.Ed.2d 1072 (1983).

It is clear that mere legislative labeling or terminology does not determine the nature of a tax, or save a tax which is otherwise prohibited. Owens v. Fosdick, 153 Fla. 17, 13 So.2d 700 (1943). The trial court erred in holding the subject tax to be a valid "franchise" tax, and the district court correctly reversed and recognized the tax to be an income tax.

If the instant tax, on and measured by income, is not an income tax, then the 1971 amendment to the Florida Constitution, Article VII, Section 5, authorizing a corporate income tax was a total waste of effort. The legislature could have simply imposed a corporate income tax and labeled it a "franchise tax measured by net income."

Indeed, if the subject tax is not by nature an income tax, then the legislature can circumvent the Florida constitutional proscription against a personal income tax by simply imposing such an income tax on any personal business or profession and calling it a franchise or excise tax.

The present Florida "franchise" tax on banks is indistinguishable from the Florida corporate income tax, except by label. The trial court clearly misunderstood and misapplied Educational Films Corp. v. Ward, 350 U.S. 492, 76 S.Ct. 170, 75 L.Ed. 400 (1931), in citing that decision as authority.

In fact and law, Educational Films Corp. v. Ward, *supra*, recognizes and holds that a tax measured by income is a franchise tax only if the tax is imposed for the privilege of doing business during a second year but is measured by income for the preceding tax year. See 75 L.Ed. 404-405. It is this characteristic that distinguishes a franchise tax, measured by income, from an income tax. The tax imposed by Part VII, Chapter 220, does not possess this quality. It is imposed upon, and measured by, income earned during the taxable year. §220.63, Fla. Stat. It is, therefore, an income tax prohibited by 31 U.S.C. §3124, as the district court properly recognized and held.

The trial court also erred in holding that the tax in question did not discriminate against interest earned on federal obligations. In this respect, the trial court held in pertinent part:

Language routinely employed by the Legislature in granting exemption from taxation for state and local debt obligations specifically states that the exemption 'shall not be applicable to any tax imposed by Ch. 220.' The tax on banks and savings associations imposed



by Part VII, Ch. 220 is inescapably a tax imposed by Ch. 220 and thus the exemption does not apply. Interest earned on all state and local debt obligations must be included in the tax base. The Florida tax is nondiscriminatory and does not violate 31 U.S.C. §3124.

(R 291; A 9)

This holding was clear error, and constituted fundamental misunderstanding by the trial court. The language routinely employed by the legislature is that exemption for state and local obligations "shall not be applicable to any tax imposed by Chapter 220 on interest, income or profits on debt obligations owned by corporations" (emphasis supplied). See §§159.15, 159.31, 159.50, 159.621, 159.708, 215.76, 240.497, 423.03, 243.33, 315.11, 348.65, 348.762, 348.96, 349.13, 403.1834, Fla. Stat.

The trial court omitted the important latter part of the "routine" exemption language, which latter part establishes that the exemption is removed only for taxes on income, not for taxes purportedly only "measured by" income. Thus, the exemptions for state and local obligations are not removed from the tax imposed by Part VII unless it is a tax "on" income, in which event it is a prohibited income tax. Neither appellants, nor the trial court, can have it both ways. For these, and other reasons, the trial court erred.

The district court found it unnecessary to reach this second issue, the discriminatory aspect of Part VII, Chapter 220, because the nature of the tax as an income tax rendered it invalid under 31 U.S.C. §3124. A like decision, and affirmance of the district court, is called for herein. If, however, this Court reaches

this secondary issue, then the inherent discrimination of Part VII, Chapter 220, against investment in federal obligations provides an alternative basis for affirmance of the decision of the district court.

The decision of the district court is, therefore, entirely correct and must be affirmed.

## ARGUMENT

### ISSUE I

THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT THE TAX IMPOSED ON BANKS BY PART VII, CHAPTER 220, FLORIDA STATUTES, IS AN INCOME TAX RATHER THAN A FRANCHISE TAX AND, THEREFORE, VIOLATES 31 U.S.C. §3124.

It is clear, as the district court held, that the tax imposed by Part VII of Chapter 220, Florida Statutes, is an income tax. As such, the Florida tax is prohibited by 31 U.S.C. §3124.

It is first appropriate to consider the history of Part VII of Chapter 220, Florida Statutes. Prior to November 2, 1971, the Florida Constitution, in Article VII, Section 5, prohibited the imposition of either corporate or personal income tax in Florida.

The courts of Florida had held that the proscription against income taxes could not be circumvented by artful legislative terminology or indirection. In Owens v. Fosdick, 153 Fla. 17, 13 So.2d 700 (1943), the Court held in pertinent part at page 703:

The people of the State of Florida have declared that there shall be no tax on incomes levied by the State, or under its authority. Const.Fla. Art. IX, Sec. 11. This section is a definite positive proscription against such taxation by the Legislature. It operates as a limitation upon the power to tax all real and personal property owned by citizens and residents of the State, which otherwise is recognized under Section 1 of Article IX of the Constitution. If in its practical application, therefore, a tax falls upon that which is prohibited by this section of the Constitution of the State it can not be upheld, no matter in what terminology the taxing statute is couched, or what the Legislature has declared the tax to be. To be guided by any other view is to concede that what may not be done directly because of constitutional restrictions, may be done indirectly by legislative

means accomplishing the same result, the Constitution notwithstanding. Fairbank v. United States, 181 U.S. 283, 21 S.Ct. 648, 45 L.Ed. 862. Constitutional prohibitions may not thus be so lightly evaded or circumvented. Their mandates are imperative, and they must be so construed as to give full force and effect to their manifest purpose. City of Jacksonville v. Continental Can Company, 113 Fla. 168, 151 So. 488.

(Emphasis supplied.)

The foregoing decision of the Supreme Court of Florida made clear that neither legislative label, nor indirect legislative means, would serve to change the inherent nature of an income tax, nor save it from recognition as a prohibited form of tax. See also, Mahan v. Lummus, 160 Fla. 505, 35 So.2d 725 (1948); State ex rel. McKay v. Keller, 140 Fla. 346, 191 So. 542 (1939).

The income tax prohibition was carried forward as Article VII Section 5, of the 1968 Florida Constitution. In early 1971, at the request of then-Governor Askew for advice, the Florida Supreme Court made clear that the constitutional proscription extended to an income tax on artificial "persons" or entities, including corporations. In Re Advisory Opinion to the Governor, 243 So.2d 573 (Fla. 1971).

Thereafter, a proposed constitutional amendment was submitted to the electors of Florida, and was approved at the general election of November 2, 1971. As thus amended, Article VII, Section 5, of the Florida Constitution provided in pertinent part:

**§5. Estate, inheritance and income taxes**

**(a) Natural Persons.** No tax upon estates or inheritances or upon the income of natural persons who are residents or citizens of the state shall be levied by the state, or under its authority, in excess

of the aggregate of amounts which may be allowed to be credited upon or deducted from any similar tax levied by the United States or any state.

**(b) Others.** No tax upon the income of residents and citizens other than natural persons shall be levied by the state, or under its authority, in excess of 5% of net income, as defined by law, or at such greater rate as is authorized by a three-fifths (3/5) vote of the membership of each house of the legislature or as will provide for the state the maximum amount which may be allowed to be credited against income taxes levied by the United States and other states. There shall be exempt from taxation not less than five thousand dollars (\$5,000) of the excess of net income subject to tax over the maximum amount allowed to be credited against income taxes levied by the United States and other states.

Thus, the prohibition upon an income tax on the income of natural persons was retained, but a tax upon the income of corporations was authorized, with limitations.

Given this new taxing authority, the Florida Legislature did not tarry. It promptly enacted Chapter 71-984, Laws of Florida, which appearing as Chapter 220, Florida Statutes, was the Florida Income Tax Code.

As originally enacted, Chapter 71-984, Laws of Florida, provided in pertinent part that:

There shall be subtracted from such taxable income all amounts included therein which are derived from stocks, bonds, Treasury notes, and other obligations of the United States.

As will be readily seen, this provision would have kept the Florida Income Tax Code in full compliance with 31 U.S.C. §3124 (then 31 U.S.C. §742) by exempting from the Florida income tax interest earned on United States stocks and obligations.

In 1972, however, the Florida Legislature enacted Chapter 72-278, Laws of Florida, and in so doing, struck the foregoing

express exemption of income derived from United States obligations, and added Part VII of Chapter 220, Florida Statutes, purporting to impose a "franchise tax measured by net income" (§220.63, Florida Statutes, 1972 Supp.) on banks.

Section 220.63, Florida Statutes (1983), provides as follows, in pertinent part:

**220.63 Franchise tax imposed on banks and savings associations. ---**

(1) A franchise tax measured by net income is hereby imposed on every bank and savings association for each taxable year commencing on or after January 1, 1973, and for each taxable year which begins before and ends after January 1, 1973. The franchise tax base of any bank for a taxable year which begins before and ends after January 1, 1972, shall be prorated in the manner prescribed for the proration of net income under s. 220.12(2).

(2) The tax imposed by this section shall be an amount equal to 5 percent of the franchise tax base of the bank or savings association for the taxable year.

(3) For purposes of this part, the franchise tax base shall be adjusted federal income, as defined in s. 220.13, less the deduction allowed in subsection (5) and less \$5,000.

Section 220.13, Florida Statutes, which is adopted by reference in above-quoted Section 220.63, Florida Statutes, includes within "adjusted federal income" interest income earned on United States government bonds and obligations.

Thus, interest on stocks and obligations of the United States Government are considered and included in the bank's "franchise tax base" and a 5% per year tax (subsequently increased to 5 1/2%) is imposed on the tax base, including interest earnings on United States government obligations.

In evaluating the nature of the tax imposed by Part VII of Chapter 220, Florida Statutes, a number of factors are relevant. First, it is pertinent that Part VII of Chapter 220, Florida Statutes, is a part of the Florida Income Tax Code. Section 220.01, Florida Statutes, expressly provides "this chapter shall be known and may be cited as the 'Florida Income Tax Code.'" Part VII (§§220.62, et seq.) is clearly a part of the "chapter," and of the Florida Income Tax Code.

The tax imposed on banks under Part VII is labeled in Section 220.63(1), Florida Statutes, as a "franchise tax measured by net income" and is stated in Section 220.65, Florida Statutes, to be "in lieu of" the tax imposed by Part II, or the Florida income tax.

In fact and law, as the Court will see, the alleged "franchise" tax imposed by Part VII of Chapter 220 is legally indistinguishable (except for certain discriminatory exemptions treated hereinafter) from the Florida income tax.

The "franchise" tax is calculated and imposed in the same manner, and at the same rate, as the "income" tax. The income tax is imposed upon a corporation's "adjusted federal income" as defined in Section 220.13, Florida Statutes. The "franchise tax" under Part VII is, likewise, imposed upon the bank's "adjusted federal income" for, by definition under Section 220.63, Florida Statutes, the bank's "franchise tax base" is "adjusted federal income" as defined in Section 220.13, Florida Statutes.

Effectively, the alleged "franchise tax" is nothing other than a mislabeled income tax. It is clear under the principles

announced in Owens v. Fosdick, 153 Fla. 17, 13 So.2d 700 (1943), and other Florida decisions that legislative labeling does not change the nature of the law.

Before turning to federal authorities, it is pertinent to consider two questions as an aid to determining the nature of the alleged "franchise" tax imposed by Part VII of Chapter 220, Florida Statutes.

The first question is simply put. Could a "franchise" tax measured by net income, such as that imposed by Part VII, have withstood Florida constitutional scrutiny if Article VII, Section 5, of the Florida Constitution had not been amended to authorize the corporate income tax? The answer is obvious and clear! Absent amendment of the Florida Constitution, the tax imposed by Part VII would have been forthwith stricken as violative of the Florida constitutional proscription of state income tax. It is an income tax, pure and simple.

It is also pertinent to observe that Governor Askew, the Florida Legislature, and the electors of Florida went to a great deal of unnecessary trouble enacting the 1971 amendment to Article VII, Section 5, if the tax imposed by Part VII of Chapter 220 is a "franchise" tax and not an "income" tax. The legislature could have simply circumvented the income tax prohibition of the Florida Constitution by enacting an identical "franchise tax measured by net income" on all corporations. It is respectfully submitted that such an enactment would have survived only until first judicial review, at which time it would have been stricken as a prohibited income tax.



The second helpful question is even more pertinent. As the Court is aware, Article VII, Section 5, of the Florida Constitution continues to prohibit a Florida income tax on natural persons. If the tax imposed by Part VII of Chapter 220 is not an "income tax," but only a "franchise tax measured by net income," then could the legislature circumvent the constitutional prohibition against a personal income tax by imposing on natural persons engaged in any business or profession a "franchise tax measured by net income"? Could such a label and device be used to constitutionally impose a 5% "franchise" tax on the personal net income of the farmer, or oyster boat owner, or accountant?

The answer to the questions posed above is dictated by the nature of the tax before the Court. The tax is, by its characteristics and nature, an income tax. Because it is an income tax, it could not have been imposed on corporations prior to amendment of Article VII, Section 5, and could not now be imposed on natural persons. By like measure, because it is an income tax, it is not a franchise tax authorized by subsection (a)(1) of 31 U.S.C. §3124.

Federal authorities make it equally clear that the tax in question is an income tax which is prohibited by 31 U.S.C. §3124. In 1959 the federal statute was amended to add the second full sentence, which provides:

The exemption [from state taxation] applies to each form of taxation that would require the obligation, the interest on the obligation, or both, to be considered in computing a tax, except --

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